IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-760

DIETER RIECHMANN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR DADE COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

TERRI L. BACKHUS Florida Bar No. 0946427

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773

Backhus & Izakowitz,

303 South Westland Ave. P.O. Box 3294 Tampa, FL 33601-3294

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

P.A.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Riechmann appeals the circuit court's denial of guilt phase relief of his Rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing.

INTRODUCTION

Dieter Riechmann, a German citizen vacationing in the United States, flagged down a Miami Beach police officer on October 25, 1987, in order to seek help -- his companion of many years, Kirsten Kischnick, lay lifeless in the front passenger seat of a rental car with a bullet hole in the right side of her head. Mr. Riechmann explained that the two tourists had gotten lost in Miami and stopped to ask a black man for directions. The man had approached the passenger side of the car with something in his hand. Mr. Riechmann got scared and had started to hit the accelerator when an explosion rang out. Driving frantically away, he touched Ms. Kischnick's head and discovered that she was bleeding profusely. In a panic, he drove wildly until he found himself in Miami Beach where he saw a police officer who he flagged down.

The State charged Mr. Riechmann with the murder of Ms.

Kischnick. The case against Mr. Riechmann was premised

entirely upon establishing that Mr. Riechmann's version of the

events was a lie, and therefore, he must be guilty of murder. 1

¹The State's theory was something along the lines of res ipsa loquitur; if Mr. Riechmann lied, he must be guilty of murder. However, this overlooked the possibility that Mr. Riechmann may have had reason to be less than forthcoming even though he had not murdered Ms. Kischnick. According to the

The State's case had three components. First, the State engaged in simple character assassination in labeling Mr.

Riechmann as Ms. Kischnick's "pimp." In Germany where prostitution is legal, Ms. Kischnick worked as a prostitute.

The State sought to and did denigrate Mr. Riechmann's relationship with Ms. Kischnick in order to cast their interlocking insurance policies in a negative light. This was then used to provide Mr. Riechmann with a motive for

testimony of a witness discovered in 2002 who claimed to have witnessed the shooting, Ms. Kischnick was shot when a drug deal went awry (PC-R2. 1644-47).

²A whole life policy for "20,000 deutschmarks" was written on Ms. Kischnick in 1980 (R. 3099). A second term policy for "200,000 deutschmarks" was written in 1984 (R. 3100). Whole life policies carried bigger premiums in comparison to the cheaper risk or term policy (R. 3096). In 1985, Diner's Club offered its members accident insurance, covering death and disability (R. 3108-09). Mr. Riechmann accepted the offered insurance, and a policy for "five hundred thousand marks" was issued on Ms. Kischnick on November 21, 1985 (R. 3110).

Ernest Steffan was a friend of Mr. Riechmann and an insurance agent who had sold Mr. Riechmann insurance policies, including two of the policies on Ms. Kischnick. In the motion to vacate at issue in 2002, Mr. Riechmann alleged that Mr. Steffan was prepared to testify to favors given by the prosecution to secure favorable testimony from witnesses from Germany, and the application of pressure to influence their testimony (Supp. PC-R2. 60-61). According to Mr. Steffan, the policies purchased by Mr. Riechmann on Ms. Kischnick's life were "an investment, like a retirement plan" (Supp. PC-R2. 61). Cheaper insurance was available with larger payouts in case of death.

murder.3

Second, the State relied upon forensic experts to provide opinion testimony that the physical evidence was inconsistent with Mr. Riechmann's version of the events. In this regard, Williams Rhodes was called as blood-spatter expert. He testified that the location of blood inside on the driver's door was inconsistent with Mr. Riechmann's account. He testified that given the narrowness of the opening of the passenger window, the amount of gunpowder residue on Mr. Riechmann's hands belied his story. He testified that he

³In a letter dated January 12, 1988, written by an attorney with the U.S. Justice Department on behalf of the State of Florida to the German Foreign Ministry, the weakness of the State's case was underscored. As a result, German assistance was sought to assist in discovering motive evidence that could be used against Mr. Riechmann:

No one saw him fire the gun, and the physical evidence fails to show conclusively that he committed the murder. The State Attorney, who is responsible for the prosecution of this case, must determine the motive for the murder because he does not believe that Riechmann will be convicted on the basis of circumstantial evidence alone.

⁽PC-R2. Def. Ex. LL -- January 12, 1988 letter to Federal Ministry of Justice, Bonn, Germany from U.S. Department of Justice Trial Attorney, Robert J. Boylan).

⁴Rhodes's conclusions in this regard were impeached by undisclosed <u>Brady</u> material presented in 1996.

⁵Rhodes's assumptions about the how high the passenger window was rolled up was impeached in 1996 by the undisclosed <u>Brady</u> material presented in 1996.

found blood on a plaid blanket that purportedly Mr. Riechmann sat upon while driving. According to Rhodes, the blood established that Mr. Riechmann could not have been sitting upon the blanket at the moment that Ms. Kischnick was shot and her blood splattered.

Finally, for the third component of its case, the State relied upon a jailhouse informant, Walter Smykowski, to testify to Mr. Riechmann's statements and conduct while incarcerated on federal gun charges. According to Smykowski, Mr. Riechmann had implied in statements to him that police had overlooked a fourth gun. Mr. Riechmann was described as jubilant at the expectation of becoming a millionaire (in deutschmarks) when he received the proceeds from Ms. Kischnick's life insurance policies. When Smykowski asked Mr. Riechmann if he had killed his girlfriend, Mr. Riechmann turned "white as the wall" (R.4112).

In collateral proceedings in 1996, Mr. Riechmann established that the State withheld evidence that revealed

⁶The plaid blanket was delivered to Rhodes on June 29, 1987, by Detective Hanlon (R. 3278). On the third attempt to find blood on the plaid blanket, affirmative results were obtained. These results were not disclosed to the defense until after trial had commenced.

⁷The State was able to obtain an indictment only after obtaining a statement from Smykowski.

weaknesses in the forensic analysis. Some police reports had been doctored or redacted before disclosure to trial counsel; others were withheld altogether. Despite the discovery breaches, the trial court did not find sufficient prejudice under Brady in light of Smykowski's incriminating trial testimony. Thus, Mr. Riechmann's conviction was left in place because the forensic evidence, though tattered, was sufficient when coupled with the undamaged Smykowski testimony to leave the judge's confidence in the verdict intact.

Following the denial of a new trial in 1996 and while an appeal was pending in this Court, Mr. Riechmann's counsel located a former Miami Beach police officer who provided new information. Hilliard Veski had been the officer who conducted the inventory of the rental car after the shooting. Veski revealed that after his work on the Riechmann case in October of 1987, he ran into unrelated trouble at the police department that jeopardized his employment—it was alleged he used illegal drugs. At that time, one of the prosecutors on Mr. Riechmann's case, Beth Sreenan, approached Veski and told him that if his testimony regarding the location of evidence within the rental car matched where she suggested he found the evidence, the disciplinary proceedings would have a better

outcome. When he refused to go along, he was not called as a witness, and he subsequently did lose his job. During the

9Immediately before trial on July 7th, Veski was deposed by the defense. During the deposition, Veski testified that he found a flashlight in the trunk. The significance of the flashlight was that blood was found on it. If it was found in the trunk of the car, the presence of the blood would have permitted the State to argue that Mr. Riechmann shined the flashlight in Ms. Kischnick's eyes, blinding her while he shot her with blood blowing back on the flashlight. Thereafter, this argument goes, Mr. Riechmann placed the flashlight in the trunk. However, to make this argument, it was necessary for Veski to report that he found the flashlight in the trunk; otherwise the presence of the blood could be explained by its location inside the car when Ms. Kischnick's blood splattered throughout.

After his deposition, Veski advised Mr. Riechmann's counsel that his testimony had been false. He had been pressured into saying that the flashlight had been found in the trunk, although he did not indicate at that time who had

 $^{^8}$ On July 11, 2002, collateral counsel attempted to call Veski as a witness testifying telephonically (PC-R2. 533). response to the State's objection, counsel orally proffered Veski's expected testimony (Supp. PC-R2. 144-46). Counsel specifically noted that "Officer Veski indicates in fact when he seized the shawl [blanket] from the car it was in the passenger seat along with a lot of other items. He also indicated that the car was still, this is two days after the homicide, wet with blood. That there was blood virtually everywhere and it was still very wet and sticky" (Supp. PC-R2. 145). Counsel noted that Veski reported that the items in the passenger seat with the plaid blanket/shawl "were already covered with blood" (Supp. PC-R2. 146). Counsel proffered that Veski would testify "that he was pressured to provide the testimony at the deposition indicating that the flashlight was in the trunk and that he was also being pressured by Beth Sreenan to testify in the fashion that he did and also say the shawl [blanket] was in the passenger seat because he had a pending - - he was on administrative leave with a pending criminal charge against him and the indication things would go easier for you if you testify in this fashion" (Supp. PC-R2. 146).

subsequent trial, counsel learned that Veski had, when he inventoried the car, collected the plaid blanket that was later tested by Rhodes (R. 3278). However, counsel was not advised that Veski had found the plaid blanket piled with other items still wet with blood in the blood-drenched front passenger seat. Thus, the assumption made by Rhodes that the plaid blanket could only have come in contact with blood at the moment of the shooting was not true. Yet, the defense was never advised of Mr. Veski's observations nor provided with his handwritten notes which clearly reflect the location of the plaid blanket at the time of the inventory. The defense was also not told of the prosecutor's attempt to get Veski to testify falsely. In 1997, Mr. Riechmann sought to present Veski's testimony, asking this Court to relinquish jurisdiction to permit its presentation before resolution of

applied the pressure (PC-R. 5662). He advised counsel that in fact the flashlight was found in the car's backseat. Veski's disclosure rendered the presence of blood on the flashlight insignificant. The flashlight scenario was abandoned by the State, and Veski was not called as a witness. At the 1996 evidentiary hearing, Ms. Sreenan specifically denied that she applied any pressure to Veski in order to get him to say that the flashlight had been found in the trunk (PC-R. 4771).

¹⁰In fact, at Veski's deposition on July 7, 1987, Mr. Riechmann's counsel was advised that Veski's notebook with details regarding the location of the evidence collected from the car was missing, according to Ms. Sreenan, and for that reason could not be turned over to the defense (PC-R2. 682).

the appeal. The motion was denied. When the appeal was over, Mr. Riechmann included the information provided by Mr. Veski in conjunction with a <u>Brady/Giglio</u> claim in his new Rule 3.850 motion. Even though an evidentiary hearing was held on the motion, the circuit court refused to permit Mr. Riechmann to present Mr. Veski's testimony regarding what he found when he inventoried the car and the subsequent pressure Ms. Sreenan placed upon him to alter his testimony regarding where items were found within the car.

Also included in the new Rule 3.850 motion was information gleaned from the 2000 broadcast in Germany of an interview of Walter Smykowski. In the interview, Smykowski stated that his testimony at Mr. Riechmann's trial was false. He claimed that he had been promised money for his testimony. Smykowski said police had taken him out of jail before Mr. Riechmann's trial on several occasions to see his eight-year-old daughter and to go drinking. Counsel learned from the journalist who conducted the interview that Smykowski was located in Dubai, United Arab Emirates (hereinafter referred to as UAE), hiding from U.S. officials who wanted him because of a parole violation. Smykowski had signed an affidavit for the journalist, attesting to his claims in the interview (PC-

R2. 463-468). With this information, counsel met with Smykowski, who verified the published account. 12

In April of 2002, the State disclosed for the first time that Smykowski had in fact been taken from federal custody by the Miami Beach police on at least one occasion prior to Mr. Riechmann's trial in order to visit his daughter (PC-R2. 1345-1346). This disclosure corroborated Smykowski's claim in 2000.

At the subsequent evidentiary hearing, a detective testified that Smykowski was taken out of custody to conduct further "investigation" on more than one occasion. He

 $^{^{11}}$ In the affidavit, Smykowski attested, "[w]hen I testified during the trial that Dieter Riechmann was happily dancing in our cell because he was a millionaire now, it is not true. []Beth Sreenan asked me to use these words. []Also I never asked Dieter Riechmann why he killed his girlfriend. So the testimony that I asked him and he turned 'pale like a white wall' is also not true. It was Sreenan who put those words into my mouth and asked me to say this in court." (PC-R2. 252-53)(emphasis in original). Smykowski further attested, "[f]or my testimony against Dieter Riechmann, the police and the prosecutors not only promised me help in my federal case, but they offered me money to the extent of US\$30,000 (thirty thousand dollars) once the case was over and Dieter Riechmann convicted and sentenced." (Id.). Smykowski further claimed, "[t]he month before trial I was able to leave the prison and nearly every day I was taken to my home by Bobby Hanlon and/or Sergeant Matthews. They invited me for dinner many times and I could have any quantity of alcohol." (Id.).

¹²Mr. Riechmann sought permission to perpetuate Smykowski's testimony under Rule 3.190(j). However, the circuit court denied the request.

described the trip to see Smykowski's daughter as a "favor."

The tardy disclosure established that Smykowski had made uncorrected false statements at Mr. Riechmann's trial.

Smykowski had testified that he had not seen the prosecutors or any law enforcement personnel in the three months prior to trial (R. 4143). He also had testified that he asked for no benefit; if the prosecutor wrote a letter to federal parole officials, that was the prosecutor's choice (R. 4097, 4135).

Despite the fact that the State confirmed that aspect of Smykowski's affidavit about police taking him out of prison to visit his home, Mr. Riechmann was not permitted to depose him to perpetuate his testimony given that he was an unavailable witness. Nor was Mr. Riechmann allowed to introduce Smykowski's signed affidavit or submit his oral statements into evidence.

The allegations made by Veski and Smykowski indicate that Mr. Riechmann's conviction was obtained by prosecutorial tactics that violated the core values of United States

Constitution. Yet, Mr. Riechmann was deprived of the opportunity to present the testimony of these two witnesses to prove his claims. The exclusion of this testimony from a proceeding designed to permit an adjudication of Mr.

Riechmann's constitutional claims must be as unacceptable

under due process principles as is the prosecutorial misconduct alleged by these witnesses. A reversal is mandated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At 10:32 p.m., October 25, 1987, Mr. Riechmann "flagged down" Miami Beach Police Officer Kelley Reid on Indian Creek Boulevard at 67th Street. He exited his car, heading south, and approached the officer, saying, "Help me! Oh my God! My Girl! My Girl!" Within two minutes, fire rescue medics were at the scene, and tried unsuccessfully to revive the woman strapped in the passenger seat with a bullet hole in the right side of her head. The victim was Kersten Kischnick, Mr. Riechmann's companion of thirteen years.

For the next hour, Mr. Riechmann explained to Miami Beach Police Department ("MBPD") detectives, in broken English, what had happened. He asked several times to go to the car and see Kersten, but was kept away. At approximately 11:00 p.m., Mr. Riechmann's hands were swabbed for gunshot residue. His account of the shooting was related with marginal assistance from MBPD Officer Jason Psaltides, who had two years of high school German.

Mr. Riechmann said he and Ms. Kischnick had just come from having dinner at Jardin Brasilian at Bayside. They got

lost on their way back to Miami Beach, pulled over on a dark street and asked a stranger for directions. The stranger turned away momentarily and returned with something in his hand. As Mr. Riechmann started to accelerate the car, he heard an explosion,

and sped off. He could not say where it had happened or how he had ended up where he was. He smelled of alcohol. He told the officers that he and Ms. Kischnick were staying in a Miami Beach hotel. He was asked whether he had any firearms in his hotel room, and he replied that he did.

At approximately 11:30 p.m., Mr. Riechmann was taken to the police station and locked in a "holding cell" for several hours. He was eventually released, and Detective Matthews apologized and called it a big mistake. Mr. Riechmann then went to his hotel room with the detective, who took three guns, shoes, passport, travel documents and Mr. Riechmann's blood-stained clothes.

Over the next four days, Mr. Riechmann told the same account over and over again to police. They spent many hours together driving around looking for the spot where the murder occurred. Mr. Riechmann also attempted on his own to locate

¹³Records obtained by police from the waiter at the Bayside restaurant reflected that Mr. Riechmann and Ms. Kischnick had twelve mixed drinks between them.

the area. On October 28th a one-hour taped interview was conducted. In it, Mr. Riechmann related the same version of events previously given. Subsequently, this tape was introduced at trial.

On October 29, a four-to-five hour taped interview was secretly recorded in the MBPD Detective Bureau that was equipped with a hidden recording device. This taped interview was not introduced by the State at trial.

At the conclusion of this interview, Mr. Riechmann was arrested by Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms agents (hereinafter referred to as ATF) on a charge that he had provided an incorrect address when purchasing the guns seized from his room several days earlier. He was held at the Metropolitan Correctional Center (MCC), a federal detention facility in Miami. Bond for this relatively minor charge was set at \$150,000.00.

While he was jailed on the federal charges, the police and State prosecutors were investigating his background and relationship with Ms. Kischnick. They obtained the assistance of German police in searching his Rheinfelden apartment in Germany on November 4, 1987, and "four or five more times

after that" (R. 2886, 3129). 14 Dozens of acquaintances were questioned. Bank accounts and safe deposit boxes were examined. Life insurance policies, in existence from the 1970's, were obtained. During November and December of 1987, while Mr. Riechmann awaited federal trial, the State rushed to obtain enough probable cause to charge him for Ms. Kischnick's murder the moment he was acquitted in federal court. However, German authorities were falsely told that Mr. Riechmann was already charged with murder; this falsehood was necessary to obtain search warrants in Germany (PC-R. Appendix 85, 11-12. Appendix 83). 15

Mr. Riechmann remained in federal pretrial custody until December 29, 1987, when his two-day federal trial began. Two of the three counts were dismissed by Judge James W. Kehoe because gun shop witnesses were unable to identify that any crime had been committed. A federal jury acquitted Mr. Riechmann of the third charge, seemingly for the same reason.

 $^{^{14}} Searches$ in Germany were also conducted on January 14, 1988 with prosecutor DiGregory present, and on February $2^{nd},$ 14^{th} and April, 1988 with prosecutor Sreenan present (R. 2887).

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