IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-760

DIETER RIECHMANN,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court properly summarily denied the claim regarding Off. Veski, as it was not asserted in a timely fashion and was without merit. The lower court also properly refused to permit a deposition of Smykowski, since Defendant did not comply with the rules of criminal procedure in making the request, never knew where Smykowski was and gave inadequate notice of his request. The lower court also properly refused to admit unreliable hearsay.

The claim regarding the alleged ex parte proceeding was never properly raised below and the motion to disqualify that was filed was untimely and facially insufficient. Moreover, the lower court did not consider matters outside the record.

The lower court properly denied the Brady claim and the

newly discovered evidence claim. In doing so, the lower court properly considered cumulative evidence.

ARGUMENT⁶

I. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARDING OFFICER VESKI.

Defendant first asserts that the lower court erred in refusing to allow Hillard Veski to testify at the evidentiary hearing. Defendant appears to assert that the lower court was required to conduct an evidentiary hearing on this claim because he had asserted other violations of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

In order to raise a claim in a successive motion for post conviction relief filed outside the time limits set for post

 $^{^{6}}$ The German Government has filed a brief as amicus curiae in which it asserts that evidence obtained in German should be suppressed because the evidence was gathered under an improper procedure for requesting assistance from the German government and because the searches were allegedly improper under German law. However, Defendant has not raised any issue regarding the propriety of the searches in German on appeal. Amici are not permitted to raise new issues. Dade County v. Eastern Airlines, 212 2d 7, 8 (Fla. 1968); Michels v. Orange County So. Fire/Rescue, 819 So. 2d 158, 159 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); Keating v. State, 157 So. 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963). As such, this issue is not properly before the Court. Moreover, this Court has already determined, both on direct appeal and in the State habeas proceeding, that Defendant was not entitled suppression the evidence seized in German and that the continued of litigation of this issue is procedurally barred. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d at 365-66; Riechmann, 581 So. 2d at 138. As such, the issue should be rejected even if it were properly before this Court.

conviction motions, a defendant must show either that the claim is based on a fundamental change of constitutional law that has been held to apply retroactively or that the claim is based on facts that were unknown to the defendant and could not have been discovered earlier. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850(b). Moreover, the claim must be asserted within the applicable time period for raising an initial motion for post conviction after the facts underlying the claim could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. *Stewart v. State*, 495 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1986); *Christopher v. State*, 489 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 1986); *Webber v. State*, 662 So. 2d 1287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

Here, the lower court denied this claim as procedurally barred because it either was or should have been raised on direct appeal or in the prior post conviction proceedings. (R. 1140) The record fully supports the lower court's ruling.

Defendant did not raise this claim in a motion for post conviction relief until he presented it as part of a claim that the State had engaged in outrageous misconduct in his amended second motion filed on September 14, 2001. (SR. 62-64) The claim did not include any assertion regarding when the facts underlying the claim were or could have been discovered or that the claim was based on a fundamental change in constitutional

law. *Id.* Instead, the claim acknowledged that Off. Veski had told Defendant "[a]fter his deposition, but before trial" that he lied at his deposition and had been pressured to testify falsely. (SR. 63)

Moreover, Defendant asserted in the claim that the significance of Off. Veski's testimony was that it showed that the flashlight had gotten bloody when it was in the backseat of the car and not because Defendant had touched it after the murder. (SR. 62-64) He asserted that the State presented false testimony regarding the location of the flashlight to the jury. *Id.* Defendant also mentioned that the blanket had been found on the right front seat and indicated that the location of the seat being wet with blood or blood being transferred to the blanket.⁷ *Id.*

Defendant had raised this same claim in the petition for writ of habeas corpus that he filed in this Court on June 11, 1998. Petition, FSC Case No. 89,564, at 86-87. Moreover, at the evidentiary hearing regarding the first motion for post conviction relief, trial counsel testified that he was aware that Off. Veski had been pressured to testify falsely before trial and was shown a copy of the notes of the inventory Off.

^{&#}x27; In fact, in the next claim in the motion, Defendant sought DNA testing, claiming the presumptive blood on the blanket was not Ms. Kischnick's. (SR. 68-70)

Veski conducted. (PCT. 1665-69)

As seen above, the record conclusively shows that Defendant was aware of the alleged pressure and alleged false testimony before trial. It also shows that he had Off. Veski's inventory notes at the time of the first post conviction proceeding. Under these circumstances, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred. See Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 2002); Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941, 948 (Fla. 1998); Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 804-06 (Fla. 1996). It should be affirmed.

To the extent that Defendant is attempting to assert that the claim was properly filed because *Banks v. Dretke*, 540 U.S. 668 (2004), represents a fundamental change in law that had been held to be retroactive, he is entitled to no relief.⁸ *Banks* did not purport to recognize a new fundamental constitutional right. Instead, the Court claimed it was merely applying preexisting precedent regarding *Brady* claims and the determination under federal law of the existence of cause to excuse a procedural default in a federal habeas proceeding, an issue that the United States Supreme Court has characterized as an issue of federal

⁸ This is particularly true since the claim was not raised below and is not properly before this Court. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003).

law that does not have to depend on a constitutional claim. Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 489 (1986). Moreover, Defendant has not shown that Banks has been held to be retroactive. As such, Banks does not meet the requirements of the second condition for filing an untimely, successive motion. The lower court properly rejected this claim as procedurally barred.

To the extent that Defendant is attempting to assert that Banks held that Brady claims cannot be procedurally barred, this is again not true. Banks did not hold that all Brady claims could not be procedurally barred. In Banks, the Court based its finding that the defendant had shown cause to overcome a procedural bar on three factors:

"(a) the prosecution withheld exculpatory evidence; (b) petitioner reasonably relied on the prosecution's open file policy as fulfilling the prosecution's duty to disclose such evidence; and (c) the [State] confirmed petitioner's reliance on the open file policy by asserting during state habeas proceedings that petitioner had already received everything known to the government."

Banks, 540 U.S. at 692-93 (quoting Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 289 (1999)). The Court then stated that it had not decided "whether any one or two of these factors would to sufficient to constitute cause" and was not doing so in Banks. Id. at 693 n.13 (quoting Strickler, 527 U.S. at 289). The language that Defendant relies upon is contained in a discussion of Texas' argument regarding cause after the Court had already found cause

as discussed above. *Banks*, 540 U.S. at 696. Given that Defendant's argument is basically that he only needs to satisfy part (a) of showing of cause and the Court directly stated that it was not deciding that question, Defendant's reliance on *Banks* is misplaced. This is particularly true here, since Defendant had the allegedly withheld information at trial and during the first motion for post conviction relief.

To the extent that Defendant is attempting to claim, a *Brady* claim cannot be barred because a cumulative analysis must be conduct, again Defendant is not entitled to any relief. This Court has held that *Brady* and *Giglio* claims can be procedurally barred even while requiring a cumulative analysis. *Buenoano*, 708 So. 2d at 948; *Mills*, 684 So. 2d at 804-06. This is consistent with this Court's repeated holding that a cumulative error fails when the individual claims are procedurally barred or without merit. *Roberts v. State*, 840 So. 2d 962, 972 (Fla. 2002). Moreover, *Mordenti v. State*, 894 So. 2d 161 (2004), does not compel a different result, as this Court did not find that any of the claims considered cumulatively were procedurally barred. The lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred and should be affirmed.

Even if the claim had not been procedurally barred, the lower court would still have properly summarily denied this

claim. While Defendant continually asserts that this Court is required to accept his factual allegations as true, the law only requires this Court to accept factual allegations as true "to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record." *Gaskin v. State*, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999); *see also Arbelaez v. State*, 775 So. 2d 909, 914 (Fla. 2000). Here, Defendant's allegations are refuted by the record.

While Defendant asserted that Off. Veski testified falsely, Off. Veski never testified at trial. Moreover, no testimony was presented at trial regarding the flashlight.⁹ The State elected not to introduce it at trial because it could not prove where it was found. (PCT. 1546-48) In *Buenoano v. State*, 708 So. 2d 941, 948 (Fla. 1998), this Court described a claim regarding the knowing presentation of false testimony from a witness who never testified at trial as baseless. Similarly here, the issue is baseless and was properly summarily denied.

To the extent that Defendant is attempting to claim that the State withheld the fact that Veski had allegedly been pressured, both the record and Defendant's own motion show that

⁹ The portions of the record to which Defendant cited in his motion consist of suppression hearing testimony of Trujillo and Lonergan and a statement by the prosecutor delay during a pretrial hearing concerning the reason why drawing Defendant's blood had been. (DAR. 1278, 1304, 1351-54, 1664) Moreover, showing that Veski's testimony was inconsistent with other officers would not demonstrate perjury. *Maharaj v. State*, 778 So. 2d 944, 956 (Fla. 2000).

he is entitled to no relief. Both show that Defendant knew of the alleged pressure before trial. As such, this claim was without merit and properly denied. *Maharaj v. State*, 778 So. 2d 944, 954 (Fla. 2000)(no *Brady* violation, where defendant knew of evidence before trial).

With regard to the location of the blanket at the time of the crime, Veski did not see the blanket until two days after the crime. Photographs taken at the scene, sometime between 11:45 pm on October 25, 1987 and 1:00 a.m. on October 26, 1987, show the blanket in the driver's seat and the victim in the passenger's seat. (DAR. 274-77, 400-01, 2563-64, 2566) Detective Richard Ecott, the crime scene technician who took the photographs, testified that the blanket was in the driver's (DAR. 2569, 2605) Moreover, Defendant personally, seat. testified on direct examination that the blanket was in the driver's seat. (DAR. 4547) At the post-conviction hearing, defense counsel Edward Carhart testified that Defendant told him that he was sitting on the blanket (in the driver's seat) at the time the victim was shot. (PCT. 1628) Thus, the record conclusively refutes this claim.

To the extent that Defendant is claiming that the fact that the blanket was moved was important because the blood was transferred, Defendant did not raise this claim in his motion

for post conviction relief. As such, it is not properly before this Court. Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003); Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 211-13 (Fla. 2002). Moreover, the record reflects that counsel knew that the blanket was recovered from the passenger seat and presented this at the time of trial. (DAR. 3278-79) As such, it would not show a Brady violation. Maharaj, 778 So. 2d at 954. The claim was properly denied and should be affirmed.

II. THE LOWER COURT ACTED PROPERLY REGARDING THE DEPOSITION AND USE OF HEARSAY STATEMENTS BY SMYKOWSKI.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in denying his motion to take a deposition to perpetuate the testimony of Walter Smykowski. Defendant asserts that the granting of a deposition to perpetuate was mandatory under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j), pursuant to which Defendant allegedly sought to depose Smykowski. Defendant further contends that the denial of the deposition or of admission of an alleged affidavit from Smykowski or Defendant's counsel's hearsay account of Smykowski's alleged statements to her violated due process. However, these claims present no basis for reversal.

While Defendant asserts that he sought to depose Smykowski under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j), this is not true. Defendant's motion was predicated on Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.330(a)(3)(C), and not Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j). (R. 463-65) It was the State that

argued that compliance with the criminal rule was required. (R. 466, SR. 279) Since Defendant never sought to take a deposition under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j), he belated reliance on the rule should not now be countenanced.

Moreover, Defendant did not comply with the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j). That rule requires that a motion pursuant "shall be verified or supported by the affidavits of credible persons that a prospective witness resides beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the court or may be unable to attend or be prevented from attending a trial or hearing, that the witness's testimony is material, and that it is necessary to take the deposition to prevent a failure of justice." Here, Defendant's motion was not under oath or accompanied any affidavits. (R. 463-65) Moreover, Defendant did not actually allege where Smykowski was living. Id. At the hearing on the motion, Defendant admitted that he did not have even an address or phone number for Smykowski and did not even know if he would be found. (SR. 275-76) Thus, Defendant did not comply with the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j). As such, the lower court did not abuse its discretion¹⁰ in finding that Defendant's motion was insufficient. See Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040,

 $^{^{10}}$ The standard of review for denials of motions to take depositions to perpetuate testimony is abuse of discretion. Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1054 (Fla. 2000).

1054-55 (Fla. 2000). The denial of the motion should be affirmed.

Additionally, the lower court did not completely refuse to allow Defendant to take a deposition to perpetuate testimony. Instead, at the time it ruled on Defendant's motion originally, it denied the motion without prejudice to Defendant renewing the motion "if for some reason or somehow an investigator is able to discover the witness." (SR. 284) Even though Backhus testified that she met with Smykowski in March 2002 (R. 1713, 823, 951), Defendant did not come back to the court and renew his request to take a deposition to perpetuate Smykowski's testimony at that point. Instead, Defendant waited until the end of the day on the day before the hearing was schedule to conclude, asserting that the motion had not been made earlier because he still did not have an address or phone number for Smykowski. (SR. 262-65) However, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(j)(1) specifically provides that requests to perpetuate testimony made within 10 days of the proceeding can be denied. Here, the motion was not made until proceedings were drawing to a close. Under the these circumstances, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in deposition to denying the motion to take а perpetuate Smykowski's testimony. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, none of Defendant's requests gave the State

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